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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

No. X:24-CV-XX 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE COMMUNITY 
ACTION NETWORK, 

Plaintiff, 
 

v.  
 

GFL ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.; SAMPSON 
COUNTY DISPOSAL, LLC; WASTE 
INDUSTRIES, USA, LLC; WASTE 
INDUSTRIES, LLC; BLACK CREEK 
RENEWABLE ENERGY, LLC, 
 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT  
Fed. R. Civ. P. 7 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

The Environmental Justice Community Action Network (“EJCAN”), by and through its 

counsel, files these Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and Clean Water Act claims 

against GFL Environmental, Inc., Sampson County Disposal, LLC; Waste Industries, USA, LLC; 

Waste Industries, LLC; and Black Creek Renewable Energy, LLC (together, “GFL” or 

“Defendants”), and alleges as follows: 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. This is a citizen suit brought by EJCAN pursuant to Section 7002 of the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B), and Section 

505 of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1). 
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2. RCRA authorizes private parties to sue any person who has caused or contributed to 

the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any 

solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial 

endangerment to health or the environment. GFL’s past and present handling, storage, 

treatment, transportation, and disposal of solid waste at the Sampson County Landfill 

(“the Landfill”), has caused toxic per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (“PFAS”) to 

pollute groundwater, surface water, soil, air, and residential drinking water wells near 

the Landfill. This ongoing pollution may imminently and substantially endanger 

residents of Snow Hill, a rural, working-class community located in Roseboro, North 

Carolina.  

3. The CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants into surface waters by any person, 

including corporate entities, except in compliance with the express terms of a 

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit. The CWA 

authorizes private parties to bring suits alleging violations of the Act, including 

discharges not authorized by a NPDES permit and discharges in violation of a 

NPDES permit. GFL has unlawfully discharged toxic PFAS compounds into Bearskin 

Swamp, a popular fishing stream in the Snow Hill community, since at least 2019. 

GFL’s unlawful discharges continue to this day.  

4. Bearskin Swamp, a tributary of the Little Coharie River and part of the Cape Fear 

River Basin, flows along the Eastern border of the Landfill. Bearskin Swamp is a 

popular fishing area and recreation space for the Snow Hill community. GFL’s 

ongoing, unlawful discharges of toxic PFAS into Bearskin Swamp harm this stream 

Case 7:24-cv-00831-BO   Document 1   Filed 08/30/24   Page 2 of 53



 

3 

and wetland ecosystem and the many people who swim, boat, fish, and recreate in 

and around Bearskin Swamp. 

5. This action seeks declaratory and injunctive relief, civil penalties, and costs of 

litigation, including expert fees and expenses and reasonable attorney fees. 

JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND NOTICE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the RCRA claim in this action under 

Section 7002(a)(1)(B) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B) (citizen suits alleging 

imminent and substantial endangerment), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question 

jurisdiction). 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the CWA claims in this action under 

Section 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (citizen suits), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question jurisdiction). 

8. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the parties in this case because this suit 

relates to activities or occurrences taking place in the state of North Carolina, 

specifically, GFL’s operation of a regional landfill in North Carolina and its resulting 

pollution of Bearskin Swamp and the Snow Hill community in Roseboro, North 

Carolina. 

9. GFL purposefully availed itself of the benefits of conducting waste management 

activities in North Carolina by operating this solid waste facility in the state. 

Plaintiff’s claims arise from pollution caused by waste management practices at the 

Sampson County Landfill. See Fields v. Sickle Cell Disease Ass’n of Am., Inc., 376 F. 

Supp. 3d 647, 651 (E.D.N.C. 2018). 
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10. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of North Carolina because Sampson County, 

the Sampson County Landfill, the Town of Roseboro, the community of Snow Hill, 

and Bearskin Swamp are all located in this District. The violations and endangerment 

alleged in this complaint have occurred, and continue to occur, in the Eastern District 

of North Carolina. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a); 33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1); 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(2). 

11. A copy of this Complaint has been served on the Attorney General of the United 

States, the Regional Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) 

for Region 4, and the EPA Administrator on the same date that this complaint is being 

filed with the Court. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(F); 40 C.F.R. § 135.4 (2024). 

12. EJCAN has complied with the pre-suit notice provisions of RCRA. Pursuant to 

Section 7002 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b), on February 13, 2024, EJCAN mailed 

notices of intent to file suit under RCRA to GFL, the Administrator of the EPA, the 

Regional Administrator of the EPA, the North Carolina Department of Environmental 

Quality (“DEQ”), and the United States Attorney General. [Hereinafter “RCRA 

Notice,” attached hereto as Exhibit 1 (Notice of Intent, and receipt of notice to 

Defendants, EPA, DEQ, and Attorney General), incorporated by reference herein]. 

The notice period began on the date after which all parties had been served, which 

was March 1, 2024.  

13. Plaintiffs are filing this Complaint after the statutorily required notice period of ninety 

(90) days has ended. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A). The date of filing, August 30, 2024, 

is 182 days after the RCRA notice period began on March 1, 2024.  
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14. EPA has not commenced, nor is it prosecuting, a civil action in a court of the United 

States under 42 U.S.C. § 6973 or under 42 U.S.C. § 9606 to address the imminent and 

substantial endangerment to health or the environment alleged in the RCRA Notice. 

EPA has not engaged in a removal action nor incurred costs to initiate a Remedial 

Investigation and Feasibility Study under 42 U.S.C. § 9604. EPA has not obtained a 

court order (including a consent decree) or issued an administrative order under 42 

U.S.C. § 9606 or 42 U.S.C. § 6973, pursuant to which GFL is conducting a removal 

action, Remedial Investigation and Feasibility Study, or proceeding with a remedial 

action on the property. 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(B). 

15. DEQ has not commenced, nor is it prosecuting, an action under 42 U.S.C. § 

6972(a)(1)(B) to address the imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the 

environment alleged in the RCRA Notice. DEQ has not engaged in a removal action 

under 42 U.S.C. § 9604. DEQ has not incurred costs to initiate a Remedial 

Investigation and Feasibility Study under 42 U.S.C. § 9604 on the property. 42 U.S.C. 

§ 6972(b)(2)(C). 

16. EJCAN has complied with the pre-suit notice provisions of the CWA. Pursuant to 

Section 505(b)(1)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(A), on May 7, 2024, 

EJCAN sent notices of intent to file suit under the CWA via certified mail to GFL, the 

EPA Administrator, the Regional Administrator of the EPA, DEQ, and the United 

States Attorney General. [Hereinafter “CWA Notice,” attached hereto as Exhibit 2 

(Notice of Intent, and receipt of notice to Defendants, EPA, DEQ, and Attorney 

General), incorporated by reference herein]. This Notice complied with 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(b)(1)(A), and with 40 C.F.R. Part 135, Subpart A.  
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17. Plaintiff is filing this Complaint after the statutorily required notice period of sixty 

(60) days has ended. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(A). The date of filing, August 30, 2024, 

is 115 days after the CWA notice period began on May 7, 2024. 

18. Neither EPA nor DEQ has commenced, nor are they diligently prosecuting, a civil or 

criminal action in a court of the United States, or a State to redress the violations of 

the CWA alleged in the CWA Notice. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(6). Additionally, neither 

EPA nor DEQ has commenced an administrative civil penalty action under Section 

309(g) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g), or a comparable North Carolina law, to 

redress violations of the CWA by GFL set forth in the CWA Notice. Id. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff EJCAN and Its Members  

19. EJCAN is a “citizen” within the meaning of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) and 

1365(g). 

20. EJCAN is a “person” within the meaning of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6903(15) and 

6972(a).  

21. EJCAN is a North Carolina non-profit membership organization that works to ensure 

that all Sampson County residents have access to clean and safe air, water, and soil. 

EJCAN has approximately 200 members who attend monthly EJCAN meetings, other 

EJCAN events, and/or receive regular updates about EJCAN’s work via text 

messages or email.  

22. EJCAN’s principal place of business is located at 209 W. Morisey Blvd., Clinton, NC 

28328. 
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23. EJCAN has members who rely on water from residential drinking water wells 

contaminated by GFL’s PFAS pollution. These members own, reside in, and/or spend 

substantial amounts of time in homes located near the Landfill that rely on residential 

wells as the source of their household water supply and drinking water. Some EJCAN 

members have had their residential drinking water wells tested and the results have 

shown unsafe concentrations of PFAS in the water. These members thus have 

property, economic, and health interests in the groundwater supplying these wells and 

have been, and will continue to be, directly and substantially injured by GFL’s 

ongoing pollution of residential drinking water wells with PFAS, which may 

endanger these members’ health and safety.  

24. EJCAN also has members who garden, fish, or hunt on their property, or in public 

rights-of-way, near the Landfill, including in and around Bearskin Swamp, or used to 

engage in these activities but no longer do so because of their concerns about GFL’s 

pollution. 

25. EJCAN also has members who own real property, reside, work, socialize, or attend 

church in the Snow Hill community.  

26. The CWA and RCRA violations alleged herein have directly and substantially harmed 

EJCAN members and lessened these members’ property and economic interests, as 

well as their recreational and aesthetic enjoyment of Bearskin Swamp, the Little 

Coharie River, and their tributaries. These members would use and enjoy their 

properties and these waters more if the violations alleged herein ceased.  

27. These injuries will not be redressed except by an order from this Court requiring GFL 

to cease its ongoing PFAS discharges to Bearskin Swamp; abate ongoing PFAS 
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pollution of groundwater, surface water, air, and soil; remediate existing PFAS 

contamination of surface water, groundwater, air, and soil; and provide safe, 

alternative drinking water supplies to EJCAN members whose residential drinking 

water wells have been contaminated by GFL’s PFAS pollution. 

28. Enforcement by this Court as to EJCAN’s claims asserted and relief sought in this 

Complaint, including injunctive relief to cease and remedy the violations, and the 

imposition of civil penalties, would provide redress for the injuries suffered by 

EJCAN and EJCAN’s members. Because these injuries are caused by GFL’s 

handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of solid waste containing 

PFAS, they fall within the zone of interests protected by RCRA’s imminent and 

substantial endangerment provision. Likewise, because these injuries are caused by 

unlawful discharges of pollution into waters of the United States, they fall within the 

zone of interests protected by the CWA. 

Defendants 

29. Defendant GFL Environmental, Inc. (“GFL Environmental”) is a Canadian waste 

management corporation. 

30. GFL Environmental is headquartered in Toronto, Canada, and has its principal place 

of business in Vaughan, Canada. 

31. GFL Environmental conducts substantial business across North America and the 

Southeastern United States, including North Carolina, where it has purposefully 

availed itself of the benefits of conducting waste management activities on a for-

profit basis throughout the state. 
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32. Defendant Sampson County Disposal, LLC (“SCD”) is a wholly-owned and operated 

subsidiary of GFL Environmental. It is registered in the State of North Carolina. 

33. SCD is the owner and operator of the Sampson County Landfill and is the 

permitholder for its environmental permits. 

34. Defendants Waste Industries, USA, LLC, and Waste Industries, LLC (together, 

“Waste Industries”), are subsidiaries of GFL Environmental, owners of SCD, and 

registered limited liability companies in the State of North Carolina.  

35. Waste Industries has owned and operated the Landfill for over two decades. GFL 

Environmental acquired these companies in 2018, thereby gaining control of the 

Landfill. 

36. Defendant Black Creek Renewable Energy, LLC (“Black Creek”) is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of GFL Environmental registered in the State of North Carolina. 

37. Black Creek operated a landfill-gas-to-energy facility at the Landfill between 2011 

and 2021. 

38. GFL Environmental, Inc. is the owner of each of these entities; together, they 

comprise the past and present owners and operators of the Sampson County Landfill, 

including its municipal solid waste landfill units, construction and demolition landfill 

units, landfill leachate management system, and landfill gas management system. 

39. These entities are collectively referred to herein as “GFL” or “Defendants.” 

40. Defendants are “persons[s]” within the meaning of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1362(5) 

and 1365(a)(1).  

41. Defendants are “person[s]” within the meaning of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6903(15) and 

6972(a)(1)(B). 
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LEGAL BACKGROUND 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 40 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq. 

42. “RCRA is a comprehensive environmental statute that governs the treatment, storage, 

and disposal of solid and hazardous waste.” Meghrig v. KFC Western, 516 U.S. 479, 

483 (1996). RCRA’s goal is to “promote the protection of health and the 

environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 6902(a). 

43. Section 7002(a)(1)(B) of RCRA authorizes citizen suits against “any person . . . 

including any past or present generator, past or present transporter, or past or present 

owner or operator of a treatment, storage or disposal facility, who has contributed or 

who is contributing to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, 

or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste which may present an imminent and 

substantial endangerment to health or the environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B). 

44. Thus, citizens have a cause of action “against a defendant whose conduct—whether 

ongoing or purely in the past—‘may’ now pose an ‘imminent and substantial 

endangerment to health or the environment.’” Goldfarb v. Mayor and City Council of 

Baltimore, 791 F.3d 500, 505 (4th Cir. 2015). 

45. These claims “may be brought regardless of whether the plaintiff can demonstrate 

that the defendant’s actions violated a specific RCRA-based permit[.]” Id. 

46. RCRA imminent and substantial endangerment claims are “essentially a codification 

of the common law public nuisance” action but intended to be construed “more 

liberal[ly] than their common law counterparts.” United States v. Waste Indus., Inc., 

734 F.2d 159, 167 (4th Cir. 1984) (quoting Subcomm. on Oversight and 
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Investigations of the H. Comm. on Interstate and Foreign Com., 96th Cong., Rep. on 

Hazardous Waste Disposal 31 (Comm. Print No. 96-IFC 1979)). 

47. In the citizen suit provision, Congress used “expansive language that confers upon the 

courts the authority to grant affirmative equitable relief to the extent necessary to 

eliminate any risk posed by toxic wastes.” Parker v. Scrap Metal Processors, Inc., 

386 F.3d 993, 1015 (11th Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing United 

States v. Price, 688 F.2d 204, 213-14 (3d Cir. 1982)). 

48. The term “person” means “an individual, trust, firm, joint stock company, corporation 

(including a government corporation), partnership, association, State, municipality, 

commission, political subdivision of a State, or any interstate body.” 42 U.S.C. § 

6903(15). 

49. The term “solid waste” means “any garbage, refuse, sludge . . . and other discarded 

material, including solid, liquid, semisolid, or contained gaseous material resulting 

from industrial, commercial, mining, and agricultural operations, and from 

community activities . . .” 42 U.S.C. § 6903(27). 

50. The term “disposal” means “the discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, 

leaking, or placing of any solid waste or hazardous waste into or on any land or water 

so that such solid waste or hazardous waste or any constituent thereof may enter the 

environment or be emitted into the air or discharged into any waters, including 

ground waters.” 42 U.S.C. § 6903(3). 

51. The term “solid waste management” means “the systematic administration of 

activities which provide for the collection, source separation, storage, transportation, 

transfer, processing, treatment, and disposal of solid waste.” 42 U.S.C. § 6903(28). 
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52. Federal courts are authorized to issue injunctive relief under the citizen suit provision 

of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a). Federal courts “have jurisdiction, without regard to 

the amount in controversy or the citizenship of the parties, . . . to restrain any person 

who has contributed to or who is contributing to the past or present handling, storage, 

treatment, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste referred to in [Section 

7002(a)](1)(B), to order such person to take such other action as may be necessary, or 

both.” 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(2). 

53. Federal courts are authorized to issue declaratory relief under the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–02. 

54. Section 7002(e) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e), authorizes the Court to “award costs 

of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert fees) to the prevailing or 

substantially prevailing party, whenever the court determines such an award is 

appropriate.” 

Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq. 

55. The CWA’s purpose is to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological 

integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). To accomplish that objective, 

Congress set the national goal that “the discharge of pollutants into navigable waters 

be eliminated.” Id. § 1251(a)(1). 

56. Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of pollutants 

from a point source to waters of the United States except in compliance with, among 

other conditions, a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) 

permit issued by the EPA or an authorized state pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 

33 U.S.C. § 1342. 
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57. The North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality was delegated the 

authority to issue NPDES permits in 1975. Stormwater NPDES permits are 

administered by the State’s Division of Energy, Mineral, and Land Resources in its 

Office of Environmental Quality. 

58. Each violation of an NPDES permit, and each discharge of a pollutant that is not 

authorized by a permit, is a violation of the CWA. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1365(f); 40 

C.F.R. § 122.41(a) (2024). 

59. The CWA defines “discharge of a pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to 

navigable waters from any point source.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12)(A). 

60. The CWA also prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source to navigable 

surface waters through hydrologically connected groundwater, where the discharge is 

the functional equivalent of a direct discharge to navigable waters. See Cnty. of Maui 

v. Haw. Wildlife Fund, 590 U.S. 165, 183-84 (2020). 

61. The CWA defines “pollutant” to include “solid waste . . . sewage, garbage . . . 

chemical wastes, biological materials . . . wrecked or discarded equipment . . . and 

industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6). 

62. PFAS are pollutants under the CWA. See id. (defining pollutants to include chemical 

and industrial wastes); see also Parris v. 3M Co., 595 F. Supp. 3d 1288, 1318–23 

(N.D. Ga. 2022) (considering PFAS a pollutant under the CWA while addressing legal 

arguments where the presence of a pollutant is a threshold question); Johnson v. 3M, 

563 F. Supp. 3d 1253, 1279-1302 (N.D. Ga. 2021) (same). 

63. The CWA defines “point source” to include “any discernible, confined and discrete 

conveyance” from which pollutants may be discharged, “including but not limited to 
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any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, or containers . . . from 

which pollutants are or may be discharged.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14). 

64. A source need not be the original source of pollution to be considered a point source; 

it only needs to convey the pollution. S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe 

of Indians, 541 U.S. 95, 104-05 (2004). 

65. Landfill leachate collection systems that discharge into surface waters are point 

sources. 40 C.F.R. § 122.2. 

66. The CWA defines “navigable waters” as “waters of the United States.” 33 U.S.C. § 

1362(7). 

67. Surface waters are “waters of the United States” if they are, among other things, 

“currently used, or were used in the past, or may be susceptible to use in interstate or 

foreign commerce,” or are “relatively permanent, standing or continuously flowing” 

tributaries of such waters. Wetlands are waters of the United States if they have a 

continuous surface connection to such surface waters. 40 C.F.R. § 120.2(a), (c) 

(current); 40 C.F.R. § 232.2 (2014); EPA & U.S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, Clean Water 

Act Jurisdiction Following the U.S. Supreme Court’s Decision in Rapanos v. United 

States & Carabell v. United States 6–7 (Dec. 2, 2008), https://perma.cc/TAA3-YP2G. 

68. Under Section 505(a)(1) of the CWA, any citizen may commence a civil action in 

federal court on their own behalf against any “person” who is alleged to be in 

violation of an “effluent standard or limitation” under the Act. 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(a)(1). 
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69. The CWA defines “person” to include “an individual, corporation, partnership, 

association, State, municipality, commission, or political subdivision of a State, or 

any interstate body.” 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5). 

70. An “effluent standard or limitation” includes an unpermitted discharge, 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(f)(1), and a violation of an NPDES permit, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(f)(7). 

71. The unpermitted discharge of any pollutant is an unlawful act under Section 301(a) of 

the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), as is noncompliance with an NPDES permit, id.; 40 

C.F.R. § 122.41(a) (2024). 

72. Among other provisions of the CWA, citizen suits can be used to enforce the 

provisions of, and seek remedies for, (1) an unpermitted discharge in violation of 

Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311 and (2) a violation of a condition of a 

permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, which includes 

NPDES permits. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), (f). 

73. Federal courts are authorized to issue injunctive relief under the citizen suit provision 

of the CWA. See 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a). 

74. Federal courts are authorized to issue declaratory relief under the Declaratory 

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–02. 

75. Federal courts may assess civil penalties against violators of up to $66,712 per day 

for each violation of the CWA that occurs after November 2, 2015, where penalties 

are assessed after December 27, 2023. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(d), 1365(a); 40 C.F.R. §§ 

19.1–19.4 (2024). 

76. In CWA suits, a court may award costs of litigation to the prevailing party, including 

attorney and expert witness fees. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d). 

Case 7:24-cv-00831-BO   Document 1   Filed 08/30/24   Page 15 of 53



 

16 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The Sampson County Landfill’s Operations 

77. GFL owns and operates the Sampson County Landfill in Roseboro, North Carolina. 

78. The Landfill has been operating in Sampson County since its opening in 1973. The 

Landfill began with fewer than 20 acres in 1973 and over time expanded to its current 

footprint of nearly 1,000 acres. 

79. GFL’s operation of the Landfill involves the handling, storage, transportation, and/or 

disposal of solid waste. 

80. The site contains multiple landfill units. GFL owns and operates two sites that are 

actively accepting waste: a Subtitle D Municipal Solid Waste landfill (“MSW”), in 

operation since 2000, and a Construction & Demolition landfill (“C&D”), in 

operation since 1996. GFL also operates two landfill units that stopped accepting 

waste in 2001: a closed MSW landfill and one closed C&D landfill.  

81. These locations are depicted in Figure 1. 
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Figure 1 
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82. MSW landfills accept non-hazardous waste, including household waste, sludge, and 

industrial solid waste. C&D landfills receive debris produced by construction and 

demolition of roads, buildings, and other sites.  

83. The Landfill accepts a variety of solid waste products, including commercial and 

municipal refuse, ashes, sludges from industrial facilities and wastewater treatment 

plants, animal manure, residue from incineration, food processing wastes, dredging 

wastes, tires, asbestos, and creosote/treated timbers.  

84. “Lined” landfills have a barrier between the soil beneath the waste piles and the waste 

itself, which is meant to separate contamination from the waste and leachate from the 

soil and groundwater below the landfill unit. “Unlined” landfills do not have this 

interstitial barrier. But while the presence of a liner is an improvement over an 

unlined landfill, liners may still fail at containing pollution due to tearing or 

disintegration over time. On average, lined MSW landfills leak 1.9% of their leachate 

into groundwater per year, with unlined landfills posing an even greater threat. Thabet 

Tolaymat et al., A Critical Review of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances 

(PFAS) Landfill Disposal in the United States, 905 Sci. Total Env’t, Dec. 2023, at 11, 

https://perma.cc/SAG9-K7ES (“Tolaymat et al., 2023”).  

85. The active landfill’s MSW unit and the closed landfill’s MSW unit are each lined. The 

C&D units at the active and closed landfill units are each unlined. 

86. The management of solid waste at the Landfill involves management of leachate, 

which is the wastewater created when precipitation comes in contact with landfill 

waste, and landfill gas (“LFG”) produced during the decomposition process. 
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87. GFL has used various leachate management techniques at the Landfill. GFL’s 

leachate management system—a collection system with dozens of sumps which 

collect and move leachate caught by the Landfill’s liners to secondary containment 

areas—previously relied in part on an LFG-fired leachate evaporator. After the 

evaporator stopped operating in 2022, GFL began trucking leachate off-site to a 

wastewater treatment plant. 

88. GFL captures a portion of LFG emissions through its landfill gas management 

system. The Landfill’s first gas management system was primarily made up of flares, 

which it still uses. Between 2011 and 2021, Black Creek operated an LFG-to-energy 

facility on GFL’s property, where it processed LFG, some of which was sent for off-

site use, and some of which was combusted to power the leachate evaporator.  

89. GFL’s operation of the Landfill also includes a Gravity Groundwater Intercept 

(“GGI”) system that artificially lowers the groundwater beneath waste cells by 

capturing groundwater under the Landfill in underground pipes and carrying it to 

outfalls that discharge directly into Bearskin Swamp. 

Bearskin Swamp 

90. The Landfill is located near a riverine system that includes a navigable stream and 

adjacent wetlands (referred to collectively as “Bearskin Swamp”).  

91. The stream at the center of Bearskin Swamp is a Class C stream with Swamp Waters 

designation. This means it must be kept safe for fishing, boating, and swimming, 

among other uses, and it has a lower velocity than adjacent streams with steeper 

topography. 
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92. Bearskin Swamp flows through the Eastern side of the Landfill and drains to the 

Southwest into the Little Coharie River, which in turn flows into the Great Coharie 

River.  

93. Bearskin Swamp is a significant marsh and wetlands ecosystem comprised of a 

permanently flooded Riverine System that includes Palustrine nontidal wetlands and 

deepwater habitat. 

94. Bearskin Swamp provides habitat for various aquatic species, including mussels, 

darters, and shiners, as well as myriad reptiles, amphibians, birds, and mammals.  

95. Because it is home to species such as sunfish, bluegill, perch, crappie, croakers, and 

eels, Bearskin Swamp is popular with recreational and subsistence fishers. 

96. Bearskin Swamp is part of the Cape Fear River Basin, North Carolina’s largest and 

most biologically diverse river basin. 

97. The Landfill’s edge is just a few hundred feet from Bearskin Swamp, and waste is 

stored in an upland area with steep topography leading down to Bearskin Swamp. 

98. Groundwater and surface water on the site generally flow from east to west, towards 

Bearskin Swamp. 

99. Upstream of the Landfill, PFAS compounds are non-detectable or present at relatively 

low concentrations. Adjacent to and downstream of the Landfill, however, they are 

dangerously high. 

100. GFL unlawfully discharges PFAS into Bearskin Swamp from the Landfill, its leachate 

collection system, outfalls for its GGI system, and numerous drainage channels, 

ditches, conveyances, and stormwater outfalls. 
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101. Local residents, including members of EJCAN, are concerned about the safety of 

eating fish caught in Bearskin Swamp or allowing their children to play in or near the 

water. 

The Snow Hill Community and Surrounding Neighborhoods 

102. Snow Hill is an unincorporated, rural community in Roseboro, North Carolina. 

103. There are approximately 500 households within two miles of the Landfill’s borders, 

with some residents living just a few hundred feet from its edge. 

104. Prior to the Landfill’s establishment, Snow Hill was a thriving community with 

communal life tied to the land. Those who grew up there remember community-wide 

barbecues, playing outdoor sports, foraging for fruits and berries, and fishing or 

hunting in and around Bearskin Swamp. 

105. The Landfill’s pollution has made these activities unpleasant, dangerous, and/or 

infeasible. 

106. People in the Snow Hill community and broader Roseboro area still live, work, 

worship, play, and recreate in the area surrounding the Landfill—there are many 

homes, a church, neighborhoods, local businesses, and popular fishing and hunting 

spots nearby—but the quality and safety of these activities have been diminished and 

changed by the Landfill’s pollution. 

107. Many residents of Snow Hill rely on residential drinking water wells for their 

everyday water needs. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court: 

261. Declare that GFL’s management of PFAS-containing solid waste may present an 

imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment in violation of 

RCRA; 

262. Declare that GFL’s discharges of PFAS into Bearskin Swamp from point sources, 

including from SW-5, the GGI Outfalls, and the leachate collection system, violate 

the CWA’s prohibition on unpermitted discharges; 

263. Declare that GFL’s discharges of PFAS-contaminated stormwater violate its 

Stormwater General Permit, thereby violating the CWA; 

264. Enjoin GFL from further violating RCRA and the CWA by ordering it to abate 

ongoing PFAS pollution, timely remediate all existing pollution, comply with all 

conditions in the Stormwater General Permit, including the prohibition on 

contaminated stormwater discharges and all other discharges and, to the extent GFL 

continues to discharge from its GGI Outfalls, apply for an NPDES permit; 

265. Order GFL to assess and remediate the harm caused by GFL’s violations of RCRA 

and the CWA, including by providing members of the Snow Hill community safe 

alternative water supply for home use at no cost to address the danger of drinking 

contaminated water; alternative food supply to replace livestock, game, fish, and 

garden staples made unsafe to consume by pollution; and safe places to gather and 

recreate free of pollution; 

266. Award Plaintiff the fees and costs of litigation, including reasonable attorney’s fees, 

costs, and expert fees and expenses; 
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